










[image: image]





















[image: image]




SCRIBNER


A Division of Simon & Schuster, Inc.


1230 Avenue of the Americas


New York, NY 10020


Some of the names and identifying characteristics of people in this book have been changed and some characters are composites.


All changes were made to protect the identities of those involved.


Copyright © 2009 by Sunny Schwartz and David Boodell


All rights reserved, including the right to reproduce this book or portions thereof in any form whatsoever. For information address Scribner Subsidiary Rights Department, 1230 Avenue of the Americas, New York, NY 10020.


SCRIBNER and design are registered trademarks of The Gale Group, Inc. used under license by Simon & Schuster, Inc., the publisher of this work.


Library of Congress Control Number: 2008020441


ISBN-13: 978-1-4165-7010-3


ISBN-10: 1-4165-7010-1


Visit us on the World Wide Web: 


http://www.SimonSays.com









For Frieda, Lauren, Ella and the Chicago Cubs














The future belongs to those who believe in the beauty of their dreams.


—ELEANOR ROOSEVELT







 








You don’t need to wait for a roof to collapse on your head to fix something.


—FRIEDA SCHWARTZ, MY MOTHER















DREAMS from the MONSTER FACTORY














PROLOGUE







I don’t think my truant officer ever knew where I went. I’d ditch class and ride the El to Chicago’s north side, jump off at Belmont and plant myself in the Wrigley Field bleachers. I’d soak up the squawk of the beer man, the steam coming from the bins of the Vienna Beef hot dog vendors, the gentle slapping sound of a ball dropping into a mitt in the outfield and the emerald green expanse of the diamond. Wrigley was my sanctuary when I was a gawky teenager stumbling through adolescence. Even if school gave me palpitations and my family drove me nuts, I still had the ballpark and the dream that bound all of us fans together: the dream that this year the Cubs would go all the way.


I was raised on the south side and by rights should have pledged allegiance to the White Sox, but my heart has always been with the underdogs and so it was the Cubs for me. Later, when I moved to San Francisco, I gave myself with equal passion to the Giants, who have validated my devotion by failing to win the big one year after year. I am like this in the rest of my life, too: I root for underdogs.


I work in the jails of San Francisco County, and my clients are thieves and wife beaters, gangbangers and murderers—underdogs, every one of them. They have hurt their victims, their families and their communities and are now paying the price, abandoned to society’s scrap heap. There are lots of names for this scrap heap: the big house, the slammer, the joint, lockup. I think the best name is monster factory. In these factories, men exist in cells on long tiers, where they have nothing to do. They sleep in their bunks, play dominoes and cards, watch the Jerry Springer show on TV and scheme. They scheme about how to steal someone’s lunch, how to pull one over on the DA, how to score black market cigarettes for five bucks a smoke and how to get even with whoever crossed them. They make shanks out of mops, pens and metal shards broken off their bunks. These are places where the strongest thugs are allowed to terrorize the weakest. In most of our nation’s jails and prisons, violence in the form of beatings, racial threats and rapes is normal. The most predictable product of this system is rage, which builds and builds in each prisoner until he is set free—and about 90 percent are set free someday, released back into our communities.


It’s no news flash to say that traditional criminal justice is in chaos. One out of every hundred adults in the United States is behind bars. This is the highest incarceration rate in the world. Recidivism rates—which are difficult to track since no one keeps comprehensive statistics—hover somewhere around 70 percent, despite state budgets for corrections that have been climbing for years now. “There is no other business in the world,” one coporate attorney told me, “that gets an increase in their budget when they have a seventy percent failure rate.”


I was trained as an attorney, and always thought I’d spend my life as a defense attorney, but have instead worked on what I call “true defense.” True defense is working for the good of all: the victims of crime and the perpetrators as well as the community. It has been my life’s work to fight the monster factories, to reject the presumption people make that nothing can ever change. It hasn’t been a simple fight. The question I get most often is “Why should I care?” I’ve found there is no more persuasive way to answer this question than by taking people to see the monsters. I first show people the traditional jail. Then I take them to the jails I’ve helped set up. I take them to RSVP (Resolve to Stop the Violence Program), the program I’m most proud of, where we work with violent men to make them less violent. I tell people about the evaluation of our program, done by psychiatrist James Gilligan, who directed the Center for the Study of Violence at Harvard Medical School and now works at NYU. He is one of the country’s leading experts on violence. His study showed an 80 percent drop in violent recidivism for inmates who had spent more than four months in our program. I take people to see the charter high school (the first charter school for incarcerated adults in this country) and the college classes, and show them what a jail can be like in a place where there are high standards, and where the presumption exists that despicable men and women can change for the better and rejoin the human race. One venture capitalist I took around with me came away thunderstruck. “Sunny,” he exclaimed, “those programs for violent men. They could help me! They could help any man.” The stories I tell in this book will take you on the same journey, to see both the worst the system has to offer, and the best.


Everyone has a stake in this, Republican or Democrat, liberal or conservative; this isn’t a partisan issue, it is a human one. What do we do with the people who get out of jail and come back to our communities? I know that we can actually use the prisons to make us safer and our communities better. I know it because I’ve seen it happen. I’ve seen men who have committed horrible crimes defy all predictions, take responsibility for their lives and begin to make amends. Every time that happens, for me, it’s like the Cubs have won the World Series. If RSVP stops just one person from committing a murder, that’s an entire community of family and friends saved from devastation. Now imagine if across the country, every jail and prison challenged criminals to stop their violence, to stop using drugs, to get a job, to become responsible citizens, to become, as one friend described it, “taxpayers instead of tax drainers.” If that happened, we wouldn’t just change the prisons and jails; we would remake the face of American society. That’s the dream I’ve had. That’s what has sustained me in the monster factory.

















CHAPTER 1







1980


Jails are about doors. You wait for them to open. You wait for them to close. There is nothing subtle about a jail door. It rumbles and clangs like a death knell. You don’t open them yourself. Others decide whether you come in or go out.


I was waiting at Post 5, outside Mainline, the processing center for anyone arrested in San Francisco County. I was shoving my ID up to a window so that the annoyed-looking deputy sheriff could flip the switch and let me in. I was beginning to grow angry at how long the deputy was taking when an electrical buzzing shriek cut through my thoughts and the door shuddered open.


A wave of noise crashed over me, quickly followed by a rancid smell of ammonia and body odor. I stepped out onto the tier. Mainline was like a zoo, except uglier than any zoo I’d ever been to. Huge cages framed the long corridor in front of me, which stretched out the length of a football field. Every cage was filled with men wearing jail-issue orange—orange pants, orange T-shirts, orange sweatshirts, orange flip-flops or canvas shoes. A few prisoners wandered the corridor. They were workers with special privileges, allowed to be out of the tanks when going to or from their jobs. Half the cages were open dormitories filled with bunk beds; the other half were lined with two-man cells. The echoing of angry voices was deafening. There was nothing to absorb or interrupt the noise. Shouts and shrieks banged off bulletproof glass, steel bars and cinder blocks. There were probably four hundred prisoners in the jail that day. I was the only woman in sight. This was my first day of work.




I’d been hired as a legal intern for the San Francisco Prisoner Legal Services unit. There were eight of us: five men and three women. The interns handled legal issues for prisoners for eveything but the crimes that had brought them to jail in the first place. They had their public defender for that. My colleagues and I spread out through the jails every day, going wherever we were assigned or needed. If a prisoner was accused of a rule violation in the jail, or if he wanted to accuse a deputy sheriff of harassment, or if he was getting evicted from the apartment where he lived, or if he was losing custody of his children, he talked to me or one of my colleagues. The legal interns were the catchall. I wasn’t a lawyer, none of us were, but I was supposed to function like one.


I was twenty-six years old, had barely made it through high school and didn’t have a college degree. I’d never been in a jail before, and had one day of training, which consisted of being told how to use the phones and how to file paperwork. I was told repeatedly not to give the prisoners gum because they’d use it to jam the locks, but I received no training on what to do if someone turned violent. I was handed a box of pens and a legal pad and told, in essence, to go save lives. “Wildly unprepared” would be the polite way of describing how I felt.


I’d been warned about walking Mainline my first day. Rita, a colleague I’d met during training, compared it to being a sheep in a pack of wolves. She’d recommended that I present my request at the front office and meet the prisoner in an interview room, at least until I got the hang of things. But I wanted to prove that I was strong enough to stare down the monsters without flinching. I was curious, too, wondering if the men were as scary as I’d heard.


The men crowded to the front of their tanks to watch me when I stepped onto the tier. The few inmate workers in the hall stopped in place and turned toward me, as if they were a compass and I was due north. The noise receded for a second, then there was an explosion of voices.


“Oooh baby, come over here. I won’t hurt you.”


“Hey, baby. What’s the matter, you get lost?”


“Come here, I need some smokes.”


“Hey, little girl, I got something you could smoke.”


Some of the men smiled, some made a meal of me with their eyes, a few just stood there with pitiful looks, like little children trapped in men’s bodies.


With each step, a jolt of fear coursed through me. But I was also growing angry. I singled out a jeering kid on my left, walked up to him and barked, “Are you addressing me? Do you need something?”


I surprised him. His face went blank. I went up to the bars. “If you whistle at me again, I will hurt you like a dog. How would you feel if your mother was walking down these tiers and she was treated like this?”


The guy’s voice barely slipped out of him. “Uh, um, I dunno.” His eyes were wide. The others were watching. I could see some were smiling, taking my measure.


I was there to interview my first client. His name was Martin Aguerro. I’d been handed his file with a pile of others that morning. His seemed like the most interesting case and so here I was, ready to work. I returned to Post 5 and told the deputy I wanted to interview Aguerro. He rolled his eyes at me. This was the second deputy sheriff I’d talked to and the second set of rolled eyes, and it was pissing me off. Moving at a glacial pace, he checked his books, got on the phone, and after a few grunts, hung up and said, unceremoniously, “No.”


“What do you mean no?”


“Just what I said. No.” He crossed his arms.


I expected to fight with the prisoners, but I hadn’t expected to fight the deputies, too. “First of all, he filed a claim,” I said through clenched teeth. “The only way to follow up on the claim is to meet the guy. Why can’t I see him?”


“I’m just doing what I’m told, lady. They tell me he’s too dangerous. You can’t see him without a two-deputy security complement and I don’t have the staff right now.”


I knew the deputy was giving me the “weak girl” assessment. I didn’t look older than my twenty-six years, but I was no Twiggy. I was five feet nine, solid and could handle myself. After all, I had two older brothers whose idea of nurturing was an unceasing flurry of full nelsons and charley horses. I liked to think that had made me tough.


“Listen,” I said, “I don’t care if he’s the biggest gangbanger ya got. He has a right to see me and I am not leaving until I meet with him.”




I got a tired stare. I stared back until finally, with a shake of his head, the deputy reached for the phone and called the chief. Twenty minutes later the chief deputy sauntered up with a smirk on his face. At six feet five and three hundred pounds, he towered over me. “You know your so-called client is a shot caller in the Mexican Mafia?” he said.


I was too green to know that the Mexican Mafia was one of the most powerful gangs operating behind bars in California, and they controlled large portions of the drug traffic coming up from Central and South America. What I did know was what any child of Chicago knew: anybody who came from the mafia, any mafia, was probably a tough SOB. I pushed on, breathing through my teeth. “I couldn’t care less; this is my job.”


“Well, Miss Schwartz, I want you to know, I can’t guarantee your safety.”


I rolled my eyes, told him I understood and sat down to wait and bring my heart rate down. I was sitting right outside the deputy’s station. Prisoners periodically came up asking for things. They needed to get to the next tier for work detail. Someone’s toilet was stopped up. Somebody else was complaining about his mail delivery. I caught pieces of conversations I didn’t understand—the guys on D block were freaking out because they missed their commissary delivery, a sergeant was twitching because two code 3s had been called yesterday and he was buried under paperwork. (A code 3 was radio shorthand for a deputy needing assistance because a situation had turned violent, meaning the prisoners were fighting or there was an attack on a deputy.)


As I sat there, I was struck by the most unexpected thought. Even though this was my first time inside a jail, and I was far away from Chicago, where I’d grown up, and far from Tucson, where I’d spent the last eight years of my life, I felt like I was home. In the eyes of the inmates, in the cold stares of the men trying to be hard, in their vulnerability, in all the pathetic, twisted, mangled personalities on display on the walk down Mainline, I’d seen shadows of myself.


I could do something for these men.


I certainly felt more at home on Mainline than I did in a law school classroom. I’d been a first-year law student at this point for exactly three weeks. (How I managed to scam my way into law school without a college degree is a story I’ll get to later.) The world of books and notes and tests and number-two pencils had always been a place of shame for me. My school transcripts were a minefield of truant reports, failing grades and discipline problems. I thought about the class I had that night—it was about contracts—and, honestly, I felt more comfortable in the jail.


Half an hour went by and there was still no sign of my client. Martin Aguerro had filed a claim accusing the San Francisco Police Department of shooting him in the back. The allegation was serious and could end up in court one day, but the rules said he had to file an administrative claim against the city first and exhaust that route, so that’s where I came in. Out of the mountain of files I’d been handed that morning, his sparked my interest. Most claims were from inmates needing a defense after they’d broken some jail rule. They’d gotten into a fight or had refused to obey an order from the deputies. Penny-ante crap that might add a day or a week onto their sentence. This was different, something I could sink my teeth into.


Finally, I heard the echo of a gate opening and closing, and I saw a man in red who I presumed was my client at the end of the tier with two deputies flanking him. The color red was for the most dangerous inmates and escape risks. I watched Martin Aguerro come toward me. He was moving slowly, as if he were underwater, and it looked like he was pushing a cart. As he and the deputies came closer, I realized that this violent, dangerous prisoner, the man around whom they could not guarantee my safety, was dragging his legs behind a walker. He was trussed up in full belly chains that kept his hands secured at his waist so he could barely hold the walker. Martin Aguerro was a skinny Latino man with greasy hair that hung into his eyes. His file said he was my age, twenty-six, but he looked eighteen. He was no taller than I was and had to be a good twenty pounds lighter. When he got closer, I could see he had the trappings of toughness. He had hate tattooed on the fingers of one hand and love on the other. On his left arm, he had a Sacred Heart of Jesus, on his right, a half-naked woman. But yapping poodles have frightened me more. I suppose he could’ve whacked me with his walker, if he’d been able to lift his arms.


I introduced myself as we sat down at a table. He was polite, didn’t bring any attitude. His voice was slight, his speech a little lispy. We talked about his claim. He said that there’d been a warrant for his arrest and the cops came for him. They surprised him at his apartment and he didn’t know what was happening. He’d tried to run, and before anyone said anything, a cop had shot him in the back.


“They didn’t say ‘You’re under arrest’?” I asked. “They didn’t announce themselves, identify themselves as cops?”


“Nah, man, they just started firing. I get hit. The next thing I know, I’m in the fucking hospital. Man, I can’t piss right. Can’t walk. They really fucked me up.”


Good, I was thinking, good. It was a miserable story, but if what he was saying was true, I had a case. I’d barely started law school, but I did know that the police had to announce themselves. They couldn’t just come in firing.


I pushed on. I didn’t know anything about Martin, didn’t know his rap sheet and had no way of assessing if he was being truthful with me. Someone had told me during training that I didn’t need to worry about what crime they’d committed. Our job was to deal with their grievances, not with the reason they were locked up. But I felt like I needed to know.


“What was the warrant for?” I asked.


“Oral copulation on a child and rape.” He said it like he was wanted for traffic tickets. Here I’d been feeling sorry for the guy, ready to jump into his corner and fight it out. But in an instant that feeling was replaced with disgust. After a few more questions, I was shaking with rage. The girl he was accused of molesting was nine years old.


“I gotta tell you something.” I coughed, my fist clenched. “I want to hurt you for committing such a horrible act of violence. So we’re gonna have to talk about this ’cause I’m sickened.”


Martin’s eyebrows shot up. But he didn’t say anything except “Yeah?”


I paused for a second, trying to find my words. “It’s really unpleasant for me to be in the same room with someone who’s done that to a child. So actually working on this complaint is going to be difficult for me.”


Martin stared at me during my explanation, nursing his silence. He didn’t try to defend himself. He didn’t tell me he’d “been framed” or that there were “extenuating circumstances” or that everything was consensual. He just looked at me and answered my questions, as I tried to figure out how I was going to live with myself and work with him.


I was making it up as I went along. I made sure he knew how to read and assigned him a book report on Susan Brownmiller’s Against Our Will: Men, Women, and Rape. I’d read Brownmiller’s book a year earlier. It was a comprehensive history of rape and its place in Western culture. It wasn’t full of academic jargon—I got through it, for God’s sake—but it clocked in at around five hundred pages, and I was pretty sure Martin was never going to finish it, which worked for me. If he didn’t do the assignment, then I wouldn’t have to deal with him. He said he’d try and we set a time to meet.


A week later, when I sat down with him again, he’d made it through the first chapter. He’d even produced a book report. His writing was pathetic, looking like mine did in the fifth grade, full of misspellings, bad grammar and incomplete sentences, so his report didn’t reveal much. But we talked about his insights, such as they were. He’d read the “Personal Statement,” and chapter 1, “The Mass Psychology of Rape,” which contained references to Freud and Marx. He didn’t know who they were, but he did get the basic point of the chapter, which was that throughout history, women have had to contend with men defining what rape is. “It’s like, these ladies came along and they said, rape ain’t right, right?” he said, which was pretty close to the gist of the first chapter. I wanted to believe he was taking something away from our discussion, but honestly, I couldn’t read the guy.


We met every week. He reported on the chapter he’d read and I learned about his case. He was so unguarded in everything he said to me. I didn’t have any reason to disbelieve his story of the night of the arrest. But his account—that he received no warning, that he was unarmed, that he was running away scared when he was shot—was contradicted by the arresting officers and some of the physical evidence. The arrest reports said all the proper protocols were followed: officers had clearly identified themselves when they came through his door and he was shot going for a handgun found at the scene. Was he telling me the truth, or just trying to game the system? Eventually I decided I wasn’t going to figure it out. If the cops were as disgusted as I was, I could picture them going in with guns drawn ready to fire.


The third time we met, he said to me, “Can you believe it, they’re shackling me when I’m paralyzed. Where the hell am I going to go?” He complained all the time. “It’s a jungle in here,” he’d say. “I wanted to do the book report but they don’t even let me have a pen to write with.” Other times he told me, “I can’t take a shower because they don’t have any facilities for guys like me.” They were all garden-variety complaints, and I couldn’t disagree with him. The food sucked? Yup, no argument there. The doctors didn’t care? True as well. He was being treated like an animal; who wouldn’t complain? But eventually I just wanted to shake him, knock some sense into him. “You’ve got to be kidding me!” I wanted to tell him. “Whose fault is it that you raped a little girl?”


He read the book dutifully. Finally, after two months, even though he hadn’t finished the book, I told him he’d done enough and I’d file his complaint. But I had him sign a contract, a contract I made up, that said if he heard someone joking about rape or objectifying women in any way, he would confront the man and tell him to knock it off. We’d been talking for weeks now, and when I asked him to do that, it was the first time I heard any interest from him, any sense that he was thinking about the ideas I’d been trying to put into his head.


“I can do that,” he said over and over. “Man, I will do that.” Either he was hustling me, or he really thought it was a good idea, or maybe he just liked the idea of telling other men what to do. Whatever the reason, he signed the contract and agreed to confront other men if they made women-hating jokes. He also agreed to try to start a study group in prison to figure out ways to help women and children who’d been raped.


Then and only then did I file his complaint. Even as I did, I pictured Martin back in his cell spouting off, “Get this—this bitch is crazy,” and laughing with the other predators. I had no time to do follow-up with him, no way to call him out if he did go back to his cell to form a predator support group for his hideous views.


His complaint was summarily dismissed. Given the evidence against him, it didn’t matter if he was right or wrong. He was a child predator resisting arrest and it was his word against the cops’. There wasn’t much more to it than that. By the time the decision came down, I’d had at least sixty clients, and I’d realized that Aguerro’s complaint was a fool’s mission. Complaints from inmates passed through my hands every day, some about the quality of the food, others about the high phone bills inmates’ families had to pay. Some were assault charges against deputy sheriffs. Some had merit, some didn’t. There were a few I could actually win, many more I couldn’t.


Martin’s case was never anything but a long shot. But Martin himself was unique. He didn’t excuse his crimes with me or claim he’d been framed or claim that there was a good explanation for what happened. Most other prisoners did that. But Martin was like the other prisoners in a specific way.


He had no remorse. He complained about jail conditions, complained about his lawyer, felt bad for himself, but never offered me one word of sorrow for the people he’d hurt, the pain he’d caused.


Oh brother, the child rapist doesn’t like jail. That’s how I felt most of the time. But his attitude nagged at me.


“How you live is how you die” is what my mother, Frieda, always said. She was a woman of sayings. This one was always declared with a sigh whenever someone’s failings were on display. Every day in the jails, as the doors were opened onto a new set of problems, my mom’s words rang in my ears as if they were on a loop. I heard them every time the doors clanged shut behind me on Mainline. Every week there were new faces staring out from the bars, faces showing the barest hints of beards. And standing beside them were men I recognized. Men who’d been released only to return for their third or fourth or tenth visit. Martin Aguerro soon was gone. He was offered a deal of ten years and went off to follow his walker around San Quentin before I lost track of him. There he probably still got shoddy medical care and filed complaints to fill his time and maybe, just maybe, he held court and told men to knock off the women-hating crap. But I doubt it.


Martin Aguerro didn’t defeat me. I didn’t give up on the prisoners because of him, but he did educate me on the limits of what I could do. I went on to meet murderers and petty thieves and everyone in between. Almost all of them hid behind an excuse. After six months on the job as a law intern, I’d heard them all. After a year I could recite them chapter and verse. I didn’t stop asking prisoners why they were in jail. But I learned not to be surprised when very few could answer with the simple truth: they were in jail because they made the choice to commit a crime.




Many convicts used their past to justify their crimes. It was infuriating to listen to. But the past did matter. There are plenty of people with sad stories to tell who end up as good citizens, but I never met anyone behind bars who went through childhood unscathed. There are reasons why people end up behind bars. It’s no coincidence, not for any of the inmates I’ve worked with, and not for me, either.















CHAPTER 2







1966


“Don’t trust rich folks, Sunny,” my dad, Seymour, said, wagging his finger at me. “You can’t. They’re full of shit.”


He said this to me all the time. But in this particular instance, my dad was referring to Cindy’s new in-laws, the Millers, whom my sister was bringing over for Passover seder. Seymour imparted this nugget of wisdom while banging the vacuum through the living room. He was a handsome, cranky piece of work, whom all my friends were afraid of. But my parents really loved each other despite all their problems, and that day he helped clean the living room so my mom wouldn’t have a conniption. She had been wandering through the house for days, mumbling nonstop to herself.


“Look at this dreck!” Frieda pointed to the worn carpet. “It’s dreck! And look at the stains on the furniture. Oy vey, I hate this peanut house,” she said as she tried to rub the stains off the pink hand-me-down couch. I normally loved my mother’s voice, the way it revved up and went bouncing along like an accordion. She was a talker. Everywhere she went, she had friends and confidants. I’d listen to her on the phone, kibitzing with her girlfriends, her voice breaking into peals of laughter. But as we prepared for Passover, she was a dark cloud, scowling at me if I dared tell her to relax. “Dolly,” she’d bark, “go clean your room.”


Our family lived in Marionette Manor, in the shadow of the South Works steel plant on Chicago’s south side, in a roiling stew of working-class Jews and Catholics, Polish, Irish and African Americans. Cindy was my half sister and, since she was fourteen years older than me, more like a favorite aunt. She came from a mysterious time in my father’s life, his short-lived first marriage to an alcoholic woman who was evidently so unfit that my father had been granted custody of Cindy. Where my two older brothers, Jerry and Stevie, were full of my father’s bullying energy, Cindy was nurturing. When she still lived with us, her room was all lace and pillows and delicate things, a refuge from the tough-guy atmosphere in the rest of the house. Cindy had married a boy from a wealthy family and now lived in Hyde Park. And to my mother’s everlasting embarrassment, had invited his parents to our Passover seder.


My mom had a rich, earthy family legacy, which suited her like an old housedress. She would have traded up for a more sophisticated model if only she could have. Frieda’s mother lived with us. She was a lumbering old tank of a babushka who had fled a Russian pogrom. We called her Bubba. Bubba had never bothered to learn English beyond the basics, and I could barely understand what she said half the time because her dentures were the wrong size and wandered around her mouth. Bubba charred pieces of toast and saved them in the drawers of our kitchen to crush into her borscht. My mother would find the crusts and grit her teeth.


Uncle Harry, my mom’s brother, lived nearby. He arrived that afternoon and parked himself in front of the chopped-liver appetizer. Uncle Harry was “touched,” according to Frieda. “He got goofy from the war,” she’d say with a sigh. “Ya know, war wound.” And she’d look at me knowingly and tap her head. Illness seemed to be leaking out of his fingers where they were stained brown from his unfiltered Lucky Strikes. Frieda lovingly yelled at Harry a few times while waiting for the Millers to arrive. “Stop eating! Leave some for the company!” she’d beg. Liver was smeared all over Harry’s fingers.


My father just nodded at Harry and snorted. He was on his best behavior that day. Seymour had an edge—a gruff, volcanic spirit that was always on the verge of erupting. On days when his temper did flare up, my mother would retreat to the kitchen to defrost the refrigerator, her mouth pressed into a thin line. The rest of us worked out our own methods to avoid him. Jerry would go do his homework. Stevie would go out to play baseball. I would mope in my room. Seymour was an orphan whose parents came from Eastern Europe, one from Russia, the other, we think, from Latvia. I’m not sure he really knew. He never talked about it, except to say that he could remember that his mother was beautiful and that she had a voice like a nightingale. I’d catch him sometimes in his basement room going through old photos, his eyes misty. The photos were the only remnants of his mom and dad that he had. Whenever he talked about them, he seemed hurt, then quickly grew grumpy. If my mother’s family was an embarrassment, my father’s family was missing in action. But, in general, Seymour tried to make my mother happy, even if it meant being polite to some full-of-shit in-laws.


My sister and her husband, Bob, arrived in their Porsche. Bob’s parents came in a chauffeur-driven Cadillac. They spoke so quietly, I can remember sitting in the living room, my mother shushing everyone, straining to make out what Mrs. Miller was saying.


“Frieda,” she said, smiling, “you have such a warm home.” My mother smiled back, desperate to be the perfect hostess, glaring at Stevie and me because we kept cracking up at Bubba’s wandering dentures.


Jerry rarely laughed along with Stevie and me. We called him the Alderman. He was the oldest boy. He behaved. He did well in school. Stevie was two years behind him and trouble—trouble for the girls, who all loved him, and trouble for my father. Stevie just wouldn’t fall into line with Seymour. It helped make us allies.


I was the kid sister, two years behind Stevie, and he and Jerry ganged up on me. There were the names—Dumbass, Fat Pig, Loser and Chubs (Stevie gave me that last one; I had a spare tire at age eight). There were also the attacks—being pinned down and sat on while one or both slapped my face until I went nuts; them spitting in my butterscotch pudding; being locked out of the house in winter while I shivered and pleaded with them to open the door. But when Jerry wasn’t looking, Stevie would ask me what I was thinking. He sometimes even took my side against Jerry, and he taught me how to throw a curveball, too. When Harry started mumbling incoherently during the lighting of the candles, it was Stevie who got me laughing uncontrollably by mimicking it under his breath. I was always his best, easiest audience.


We got through it. My mother shushed us and smiled uncomfortably and the Millers seemed kind, not at all what my dad led me to expect. Seymour blessed the wine and we all got a sip. Stevie slipped some to Bubba, and by the end of the meal, she was smiling a little too broadly and spitting out her water. We washed our hands and ate the parsley dipped in salt water, my father intoning the prayers as a reminder, as if we needed any with the Millers sitting there, of our lowly origins and how we’d all been slaves in Egypt. Matzoh was passed. Bubba yelled out non sequiturs in quiet moments and my mother leaned over, finally giving up appearances, and stage-whispered “Ma—shhhh.” Uncle Harry interrupted to ask my mom, “Fritzy, where’s the chopped liver?” and everyone laughed, even the Millers. Finally we sang the Dayanu that concludes the Passover story. We were liberated from the seder and got down to eating my mom’s amazing meal.


Those were the good times in our house. They were few and far between.


 


If there’s one memory from my childhood that stands out, it’s of my dad stretched out in the backseat of our Buick with the windows rolled down, fingering the stops on his cornet. Seymour Schwartz was a self-taught jazz cornet player and songwriter. My mother would say he’d gotten lost again when he’d retreat to the car. He played “God Bless the Child” slowly, mournfully, the notes expanding along the quiet residential streets. The old Billie Holiday standard was one of his favorites. Mine, too. I’d sit alone at the window, singing along with the melody.




Mama may have, Papa may have,


But God bless the child that’s got his own





My dad was always scrambling for his big break but never quite making it. The closest he got was when he worked with Mahalia Jackson. They became friends in the early 1950s and our family went to her house for fried chicken dinners on a few Sunday nights. Seymour wrote a song for Mahalia called “The Holy Bible” and they performed it on the Studs Terkel radio show. My heart swelled with pride every time my mom cued up the reel-to-reel recording. But Mahalia moved on and my father’s career stalled. His style was too schmaltzy, not original enough. He didn’t have many live gigs, either. He fought with the other players. At some point it seemed, he always marched through the kitchen door referring to his bandleader as a “fucking Nazi bastard,” and then he’d stalk off to the basement to write.


With Seymour you were either his enemy or you were his friend. There was no in between. His kids could fall into either category. I can remember poking around in the garage when I was nine. It was filled with milk crates of records and sheet music, my dad’s work, along with junk that should’ve been thrown out, old broken chairs, a broken radio, tools for the garden. The garage was my father’s domain. I spied some dusty records that had fallen behind a filing cabinet and on top of the pile was a 45-rpm recording I knew he’d been looking for. It was one of his schmaltz-soaked ballads, “No One Seems to Care.” That evening, when I heard the car drive up, I ran out to meet him with the record in my hand.


“Daddy, look what I found!” I was all giddy energy.


He left the car with a scowl and wheeled on me. The 45 was there in my hand one second, and the next it was like a magic trick, my hand was empty.


He broke the record over his knee and threw it to the ground. “This is shit,” he bellowed at me. “I never want to see this or any other record again. Fuck it!”


My mom saw the whole thing from the front porch and tried to stand up for me. “She didn’t mean anything by it.”


My dad huffed away, grumbling to himself, “Everything’s bullshit.”


I looked at my mother, my little fists clenching. She looked so powerless and sad in that moment. I ran off down the street, sobbing.


My father periodically would climb into bed with my brothers and me. He didn’t molest us, he just needed us near him, needed the comfort of another body. I guess he did it when my mom got tired of him. He usually came around when he’d been moping in the basement over one of his songs. Jerry or Stevie would shout out from their room, “Don’t Greek me, Dad! Jesus!” and I knew he would make his way to my room. When I got old enough to stand up for myself, I gave him the same line and kicked him out. I knew even then that he wasn’t there to comfort me.


Truth be told, I didn’t feel safe in my house. Between my dad and the torment of my two older brothers, I didn’t feel safe. When we first moved into the house, I was around four, and my next-door neighbor, a chain-smoking Irish Catholic with the remarkable name of Laverne Liberty encountered me in the yard.


“I heard this tiny voice screaming bloody murder.” Laverne would laugh as she recounted the story. “‘Shit, goddamn, I’m gonna kick your ass!’ And I came out into the driveway and it was you howling at your brothers, who were sitting on top of you and pummeling you. Just another day at the Schwartz house.”


Laverne’s house became my refuge after one too many charley horses or dead arms or taunts about how I was in the remedial classes with the retards. She’d make me Oscar Mayer hard-salami sandwiches with butter on white Silvercup bread. My dad would complain that I was spending too much time with the goyim.


The worst part about it was that I was in the remedial classes. I’d started to fall behind the other kids at the very beginning, sent home year after year with report cards burning a hole in my hand, never sure when I opened them if I had passed on to the next grade. In the sixth grade, I tested at a third-grade reading level. I yelled at the teachers, learning how to fight like my father, never learning how to deal with school, with the shame and fear I had that I might be a complete loser. The teachers liked to mark me for “Citizenship Failure” at Luella Elementary. I was mouthy. I came to know the principal’s office intimately. Luella Elementary was two blocks from our house and every morning the walk felt like a death march. The torments of my father and brothers were well matched by the torments of geometry and the Battle of Hastings.


Those torments also competed with the Pulaski brothers, the scourge of the neighborhood. There were three of them and they were about the same ages as my brothers and me. I can’t tell you how many times one of them and their punk friends chased me and cornered me up against the church that was between school and my street, taunting, “You killed Jesus! You killed our god! You killed Jesus! Go home, you dirty Jew!” The Pulaski brothers were greasers. They were big and tough. Each had slicked blond hair and wore green iridescent pants and pointy half boots. The Pulaskis were Polish Catholics, and I was too scared to shout back the Polack jokes I learned from my brothers.




Jerry stayed out of their way. He was a bookworm who walked around with black-rimmed glasses, oxford shirts, and kept to himself. He was no nerd, he was tough, but no one really knew who he was. Stevie was popular, and had a pair of iridescent pants, too, so was more of a target.


When I was ten, one of Stevie’s girlfriends came running up to me after the last bell at school. She was out of breath, “Stevie’s in a fight, and the guy has a knife.” I ran to find Stevie cornered in the playground. Eddie Pulaski, the middle brother, was taunting him with a switchblade. A crowd of kids was watching. My brother was on the verge of tears, his eyes wide like a surprised rabbit. He was trying to keep it together, but tight short sobs kept spurting out. It was horrible.


I had a Trapper Keeper, one of those heavy, three-ring binders, in my hand. I sneaked up on Eddie and I brought it down on his head with a knee-buckling thwack. I grabbed Stevie and ran. He turned on me as soon as we were free, tears staining his checks. “Why did you do that? Why did you do that? Now they’re gonna make fun of me because my kid sister protected me.”


Summer was one of the only times I felt some freedom. I had my bicycle, a Schwinn with a white banana seat, and I had friends. I was mouthy after all, like my mother, a good talker, willing to walk up to almost anyone and give them a piece of my mind, or tell them to come riding with me to the beach.


I trailed after my brothers when I could but when they had no use for me, I took off with my girlfriends. There were no rules about where I could go or when. I just had to be back for dinner. My friends and I whirled like dervishes during the day—to the beach, to Pinzer’s drugstore, where we’d hang out on the mechanical horse out front, or if it was hot enough and we had some money, to DeVito’s bowling alley to roll a game—anywhere our bikes would take us.


 


July 1966 boiled. Biking on days that hovered in the nineties with ninety percent humidity felt like swimming through hot soup. The heat finally broke in the middle of the month, and when I went to bed on July 13, I didn’t stick to the sheets. If I’d been paying attention to omens at age twelve, I might have thought good times were ahead, but then the morning came.


“Oh my God, oh my God, oh my God.” A hysterical woman was yelling. It took me a minute to realize it was my mother. My eyes flicked open. I sat up in bed. It was early, I could tell by the light. There was another voice seeping in through my screen, our neighbor, Laverne Liberty. I felt disoriented, my stomach turned over.


My mother’s voice scared me. She didn’t say anything but “Oh my God.” I could hear bits of what Laverne was saying, and her voice didn’t sound much better. She kept whispering, “Keep the kids in the house. And keep them away from the town houses.”


The town houses were six rental apartments two and a half blocks from the house, and right across the street from my school, Luella Elementary. I was just able to pick out a few phrases of the story Laverne was telling: “Just terrible…one tried to crawl out through a screen…they haven’t caught the killer!”


My brothers and I all rushed to breakfast that morning, dying of curiosity. My mom, her face drained of color, wouldn’t reveal anything.


“Hey, Mom, Mom,” Stevie was begging. “What’s going on?”


“Be quiet,” she snapped. She never snapped at him. Stevie was her favorite. Jerry and I stopped moving.


“Stay near home today and don’t you dare go near 100th Street. Don’t go any further than the church.” Our Lady Gate of Heaven was at the end of our block.


I tried to ask why and she shushed me. No one spoke much after that. The clinking of spoons in cereal bowls felt unnaturally loud. My brothers left me alone that morning. They kept to themselves, playing catch briefly in the backyard but giving up because a helicopter was hovering over the neighborhood. I watched it hang just over the tree outside the front window; I’d never seen a helicopter so close. I was antsy, watching the blades turn; I wanted to see everything for myself and was mad to be cooped up in the house. I told my mom I was going for a bike ride. She looked at me sideways. I’d never had to ask permission to go biking before, but she was preoccupied, so she just repeated her orders to stay away from 100th Street.


I went running out the back door and hopped onto my bike at a jog. Stevie was sitting on the front stoop as I peddled away. “Hey, Chubs, Chubs!” he yelled. “Where ya going?” I kept peddling. I wouldn’t have known what to say if I’d stopped. Something had frightened my mother. I needed to see what had happened, needed to understand what had caused this sickening shudder down in the dark core of things. I couldn’t have said this to Stevie. I was just going.


After a heartbeat, I passed the church. A block later, I was turning the corner onto 100th Street. A crowd of people was milling outside the town houses. Reporters and cops were still at the scene. I stopped at the edge of the crowd and stared up at a window on the second floor. People were talking around me and I picked out a few more awful details. Somebody had murdered the women in that apartment. They were all young student nurses. Somebody said three women had been killed; another person said there were over a dozen. A story was told of one woman trying and failing to escape through a window screen. I could see a screen torn back from its frame on the second floor. Every once in a while a figure, most likely a cop, would move behind it.


Just then, the front door opened and two men in white coats wheeled out a gurney. A bundle went by. I stopped breathing. A woman’s arm had slipped out, as if its owner had fallen asleep. Everyone was quiet. The gurney wheels squeaked.


I looked at the people around me and suddenly wondered who had come out to watch. I realized (I don’t know why I hadn’t thought of it) that the killer could be there, too. The hair on the back of my neck prickled. I suddenly jerked my bike backward out of the crowd, knuckles white on the handlebars, afraid to look around me. I raced home, my legs working the pedals as hard as I could. I was scared for the first time, terrified of passing cars, of monsters lying in wait in our backyard. I went straight to my room and threw myself under the covers. I thought of the ripped screen and the night before, a woman tearing at the screen like a wild animal, her eyes glazed in terror, and then a man coming up behind her and catching her. My stomach kicked. I squeezed my eyes shut, trying to blot out the image.


I wished Cindy still lived with us. I could remember violent thunderstorms from when I was small and the sky would turn yellow, the color of death, and the leaves looked like they were standing upside down in the wind. I would run to my sister’s bed to whimper under her covers. Cindy comforted me as the thunder crashed, saying, “Sunny, dear, there is nothing to be afraid of. The flowers need the rain.” She’d put on a record, usually Rimsky-Korsakov’s Scheherazade. She’d coax me out and we’d dance, and soon enough the rain and noise would stop.


But the storm that rolled through our neighborhood that summer night in 1966 did not end, and there was no one to make me feel better. The next day, I told my brothers that I’d gone to see the crime scene. I was half proud of myself for being brave, half needing to talk about it.


Jerry sneered, “That was stupid. What did you do that for?”


“Jesus, Sunny, you’re crazy,” Stevie chimed in. “I can’t believe you did that.” There was disapproval in his voice, but also a little admiration. I think he wished he’d done it himself.


“If that killer tried to come after us,” Stevie confided, “you know I could take him. I bet I could beat him up. But Sun, you’re crazy for going over there. You’re an animal.” He gave me a small nod. I grinned back.


That night, my mother lit the Shabbos candles as she did every Friday. I loved watching her do it. My brothers and my dad usually weren’t interested but that night, everyone gathered around the kitchen table. Everyone knew the bare facts of what had happened. Eight women, all student nurses, had been murdered. Unspeakable things had been done to them, and the killer was still loose. My mother was more solemn than I’d ever seen her. She waved both hands over the flames three times as if she were lapping the light into her heart, her movements slow and deliberate, and then she covered her eyes for the blessing. My mom’s little nose stuck out and turned bright red and her lips moved a little. The words of the prayer echoed in my head.




Baruch atah Adonai Eloheinu melech ha’olam


Blessed are you, Lord, our God, sovereign of the universe,


asher kideshanu bemitzvotav vetzivanu l’hadlik ner shel Shabbat.


who has sanctified us with His commandments and


commanded us to light the lights of Shabbat.







I knew my mom was praying for “those poor girls.” It’s what she’d been saying to herself the last two days. “Those poor girls, all they tried to do was help other people. What must their families be feeling?” She stood with her eyes covered for a long time. The house was quiet. Then she passed her hands over the candles a final time.


I was waiting for magic. If God, the sovereign of the universe, was ever going to demonstrate his power, I thought, it had to be now. I stared at the flames, waiting, hoping for something that would explain the horror committed against those women. The candles flickered. There were no signs, only an empty homesick feeling.


My mom opened her eyes. She sighed once, then said, mournfully, “May we all live and be well,” and she kissed me on my forehead.


Within days we knew what to call what had happened—the Richard Speck murders. A troubled journeyman and carpenter, the product of an alcoholic, abusive family, Richard Speck followed a path from petty crimes to assaults and murder to the horror of July 13 and 14, 1966, when he had surprised nine student nurses in their apartment, then tortured and murdered eight of them over the course of the night. The ninth woman had managed to hide under a bed undetected, and later identified Speck at the trial. In its day, the Richard Speck case was called the “crime of the century.”


For me, for my neighborhood, for Chicago, there was a before the Richard Speck murders, and an after. A shift happened at that moment in our behavior, in the way we saw the world. On my street, we locked our doors for the first time. We feared strangers. We were suspicious of our neighbors. Speck had been caught within days, put on trial and sent away to prison to live out the rest of his days. But the man had still tracked each of us into the deepest darkest recesses of our hearts, and settled there, a resident bogeyman, ready to jump out and come after us if we got too comfortable.


Richard Speck was the first true monster I can remember in my life. He was far from the last.
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